IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

ARNOLD, MATHENT & EAGAN, F.A.,	
Petitioner,	

v. CASE NO.: SC07-1136

LOWER TRIBUNAL NO: 2D06-317

FIRST AMERICAN HOLDINGS, ET AL.,

ADNOLD MATHENIX & EACAN DA

Respondent(s).		
		/

ON A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

John Calhoun Bales
Florida Bar No. 346985
John L. Mulvihill
Florida Bar No. 0858471
A Bales Professional Association
Client Center
9700 Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. St. N.,
Suite 400
St. Petersburg, FL 33702
St. Petersburg: (727) 823-9100

Telefacsimile: (727) 579-9109

Tampa: (813) 224-9100

Telefacsimile: (813) 224-9109

Attorney for Petitioner,

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner refers to Arnold, Matheny, & Eagan, P.A. as "AME."

Petitioner refers to First American Holdings, Inc. as "FAH."

Petitioner refers to Preclude, Inc. as "Preclude."

Petitioner refers to Preclude's settled lawsuit against Greenleaf Products,
Inc. as "Preclude Settlement."

Petitioner designates references to the record on appeal by the prefix "R" followed by the corresponding page number and "V" for the volume.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 14, 2002, Preclude, Inc. ("Preclude"), represented by Petitioner here, the law firm of Arnold, Matheny & Eagan, P.A., ("AME"), settled a lawsuit against Greenleaf Products, Inc. ("Preclude Settlement"). (R. 143-44, V. 1). At the time of the Preclude Settlement, Preclude was indebted to Respondent First American Holdings, Inc. ("FAH") in the amount of \$26,000. This indebtedness arose from a stipulated judgment in a pending, unrelated matter on FAH's counterclaim against Preclude and third party complaint against Mike Cameron, a Preclude principal (the "pending action"). (R. 61-64, V. 1).

Prior to AME's receipt of the Settlement Check, on June 19, 2002, FAH obtained and served a writ of garnishment on AME ("the First Writ"). (R. 68, V. 1). Because AME had not received any Preclude settlement monies, AME answered the First Writ upon receipt, asserting that it had neither possession nor control of any property belonging to Preclude. The First Writ is not the subject of this appeal. (R. 68, V. 1).

On June 21, 2002, AME received a trust check from Peterson & Myers, the law firm representing Greenleaf Products, for the full Preclude Settlement amount of \$50,000. (R. 191-92, V. 1). That same day, AME did the following:

1. Promptly deposited the check into its trust account at First Union National Bank, n/k/a Wachovia Bank (R. 123, V. 1);

- 2. Issued two checks on its trust account. Check number 13450 in the amount of \$23,263.76, was issued to Preclude, Inc., representing the settlement proceeds due to Preclude ("the Settlement Check"), and check number 13451 in the amount of \$26,736.24, was issued to "Arnold, Matheny & Eagan, P.A., Operating," representing Arnold, Matheny's attorneys' fees and costs in representing Preclude (R. 119, V. 1); and
- 3. Delivered the Settlement Check to Mike Cameron of Preclude (R. 299, V. 2).

Four days later, on June 25, 2002, FAH obtained and served a writ of garnishment on AME. (R. 79, V. 1; R. 82, V. 1). AME answered the writ stating that "[A]s of the date of this Answer . . .and all times in between, [AME] was not indebted to . . . Preclude, Inc. or . . . Mike Cameron" and was "not in possession of any sums of tangible or intangible personal property nor was it in control or possession of any property of [Preclude or Cameron] from the time of the service of the writ to the time of this Answer." (R. 79, V. 1). Subsequently, on June 28, 2002, the Settlement Check cleared the bank and was paid by First Union National Bank. (R. 257, V. 2).

The record does not reveal when Preclude's representative presented the Settlement Check to the bank for payment because the date stamp on the check is illegible. (R. 205, V. 1; R. 337, V. 2; R. 339, V. 2).

FAH then proceeded in the trial court and ultimately filed its Notice of Appeal to the Second District on January 17, 2006. (R. 374-77, V. 2).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 11, 2007, the Second District Court of Appeal ("Second District") reversed the trial court's order dissolving the writ of garnishment against AME, certified a question of great public importance, and remanded the case for further proceedings. On July 9, 2007, the Supreme Court of Florida accepted jurisdiction of this case.

In the trial court, the parties filed (approximately three years after the case commenced) motions for summary judgment seeking the trial court's determination of whether the attorney trust account check delivered to a client, which represented the settlement proceeds of the client, could be considered in the "possession or control" of AME at the time of service of a writ of garnishment; thereby, rendering AME liable to FAH and First American Investment Banking Corporation (collectively "First American") for the full amount of the Settlement Check. (R. 291-95, V. 2; R. 271-84, V. 2). AME contended in its motion that, once the Settlement Check was delivered to Preclude on June 21, 2002, AME no longer had "possession or control" of the funds and, therefore, had no duty to stop payment. (R. 294-95, V. 2). FAH argued that AME was liable to FAH because AME had possession and control of the Settlement check until it cleared and was

finally paid by the bank, after service of FAH's writ of garnishment on AME. (R. 271-84, V. 2). In prior papers, FAH argued, in contrast to their argument in summary judgment proceedings, that once a settlement check is mailed (or "en route") to the intended recipient, it is no longer in the possession or control of its issuer. (R. 87, V. 1).

At a hearing on the parties' motions held November 9, 2005, the trial court stated that the issue presented "goes to the very nature of what an attorney is in this situation, as the custodian of the client's funds in the trust account . . ." (R. 363-64, V. 2). On December 15, 2005, after taking the matter under advisement, the trial court granted AME's motion for summary judgment and dissolved the writ of garnishment. (R. 373, V. 2). From this judgment, FAH filed notice of appeal on January 17, 2006. (R. 374-75, V. 2).

-

FAH replied to AME's first and second answers on July 12, 2002, denying the answers and stating that "[r]egardless of the precise time of service of the First Answer, settlement proceeds intended for Preclude, Inc. and/or Mike Cameron had been *mailed to, were en route to*, and/or had been received by garnishee [AME] at or prior to the time of service of the First Answer. Accordingly, garnishee [AME] was indebted to Preclude, Inc. and/or Mike Cameron and further had tangible or intangible personal property of Preclude, Inc. and/or Mike Cameron in its possession or control at the time of service of the First Writ or at any time between the service and the time of the garnishee's First Answer, at least to the extent that the settlement proceeds are deemed to have no longer been in the possession or control of garnishees Greenleaf Products, Inc. and/or Peterson & Myers, P.A." (R. 87).

The matter proceeded in the Second District, which rendered a decision in favor of FAH, with opinion. *First American Holdings, Inc. v Preclude Inc.*, 955 So. 2d 1231 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007). The court held that it is an attorney's duty to issue a stop payment order for a check drawn on his or her trust account and delivered to the payee prior to the receipt of a writ of garnishment if the writ occurs prior to the presentment of that check for payment to the attorney's bank. *Id.* The Second District certified the following question to be of great public importance.

CERTIFIED QUESTION

DOES AN ATTORNEY GARNISHEE HAVE A DUTY TO ISSUE A STOP PAYMENT ORDER FOR A CHECK DRAWN ON HIS OR HER TRUST ACCOUNT AND DELIVERED TO THE PAYEE PRIOR TO THE RECEIPT OF A WRIT OF GARNISHMENT IF THE SERVICE OF THAT WRIT OCCURS PRIOR TO THE PRESENTMENT OF THAT CHECK FOR PAYMENT TO THE ATTORNEY'S BANK?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court, respectfully, should not impose a duty on an attorney garnishee to issue a stop payment order on his or her trust account check that has been delivered to his or her client/payee, prior to receipt of a third party's writ of garnishment.

The imposition of such a duty would impinge upon the dignity of the legal profession and the sanctity of the attorney/client relationship, and potentially invoke complex ethical dilemmas pertaining to other clients, whose funds reside in the attorney's trust account, or third parties which have received the check in the ordinary course of commerce. It would also impair provisions of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar pertaining to the attorney/client relationship, and trust fund settlement and disbursement.

No court in this land, to our knowledge, has ever imposed such a duty on an attorney garnishee (save the Second District in this case). In fact, the only courts that are known to have ruled on the attorney trust account check and stop-payment order issue (Georgia and Maine) have denounced the idea of such a duty.

In addition, the majority of jurisdictions deciding the issue in its broadest sense, that is, in the general realm of non-bank garnishees, have also refused to impose such a duty on *all* non-bank garnishees -- be they attorneys or businessmen, tinkers or stateswomen. This is true, in Georgia, Kansas, Illinois,

New Mexico, Missouri, Texas, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Maine, and West Virginia, for example. In fact, Honorable Barry J. Stone, of our Fourth District Court of Appeal (the only Florida jurist ever known to comment on the matter in written opinion) has pronounced the better policy to be that a non-bank garnishee does not have a duty to stop payment on checks that have been issued and delivered in discharge of an obligation.

The impropriety of imposing the duty upon attorney garnishees, envisioned by the Second District below, is apparent when one contemplates what an attorney's trust account check represents. The attorney's trust account check is akin to a "cashier's check." It is considered by clients and the community as the "word and bond" of the attorney that funds exist to support the check. This, because of the exceptional stature of the attorney's trust account and the fact that a trust account check is subject to immediate disbursement of funds under the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar; notwithstanding, that the deposit has not been finally settled and credited to the account. This, also because the attorney is merely a keeper and protector of client funds within his trust account and must disburse promptly upon demand of the client-owner.

Yet, because of the opinion below, an attorney may no longer rely on another attorney's trust account check until the attorney insures the check represents "collected funds" -- in derogation of specific provisions of the Rules

that permit such reliance. Because of the opinion below, and the obligation imposed, the use of trust account checks for distributing closing or settlement funds will be seriously impeded. Once again, in derogation of the rules.

Nothing, we submit, in garnishment law imposes such a duty or would warrant such disruption of the attorney/client relationship, the sanctity of the trust account check, or the impingement upon this Court's regulatory rules. The garnishment statutes (Chapter 77, Florida Statutes) represent an opportunity for a judgment holder to garnish tangible or intangible personal property of the debtor which reside in the "possession and control" of a third party. The garnishment law does not mandate that the third party place a stop payment order upon a check which the third party has delivered and pledged in response to obligation to the judgment debtor, prior to receipt of an enforceable writ of garnishment. The funds represented by such check, post-delivery, are considered a suspended obligation.

In fact, the law in other regards would specifically decry imposition of such duty—particularly, as noted, for the attorney who travels under the rules regulating the bar as well as under the general commercial rules which provide delivery of check to payee creates an implied agreement that the check will be honored when presented. The fact that the Florida Uniform Commercial Code permits a banking customer to stop payment on a check (section 674.403, Florida Statutes) in order to prevent, for example, an overdraft on insufficient funds, or to stop payment to a

scofflaw who has not performed as contracted with the customer, does not invoke the "possession or control" concept as envisioned by the garnishment law—particularly when referring to <u>delivered</u>, attorney trust account checks.

Once the attorney delivers the trust account check to the client, the attorney, who was entrusted with the funds for a specific purpose, has fulfilled the inherent obligation within our rules to distribute promptly upon demand. As has been noted, upon distribution, the attorney must assume that the recipient of the trust account check will present such check for immediate payment. The delivered trust fund check does not fall under any concept of control by the attorney at any regulatory level under the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The attorney cannot be required to stop payment on a delivered trust account check based upon a subsequently served writ of garnishment—just as a bank cannot be required to stop payment on a cashier's check. Both carry with them a heavy weight, a mark of distinction, of being considered to be the funds the paper represents. Put simply, the decision below opens a "Pandora's box" for the bench and bar of this state. We request this Court reseal the lid, return our trust accounting to its post-decisional undisturbed state, and decline an affirmative answer to the question posed below.

For all of these reasons, and as more fully set forth in following sections, Petitioner, the law firm of Arnold, Matheny & Eagan, P.A. ("AME"), respectfully,

requests that this Court answer the question certified below with a resounding, "NO."

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue before the Court is the proper interpretation of the Florida garnishment statute. A question of statutory construction is a question of law. A question of law is reviewed *de novo* by the Court. *See City of Gainesville v. State*, 863 So. 2d 138 (Fla. 2003); *Armstrong v. Harris*, 773 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 2000). *See also Jackson County Hospital Corporation v. Aldrich*, 835 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002), *review granted by Bay Anesthesia, Inc. v. Aldrich*, 847 So. 2d 975 (Fla. 2003) (appellate court reviews trial court's interpretation of statute under *de novo* standard).

ARGUMENT

ATTORNEY GARNISHEE DOES NOT HAVE A DUTY TO ISSUE A STOP PAYMENT ORDER ON HIS OR HER TRUST ACCOUNT CHECK THAT HAS BEEN DELIVERED TO THE PAYEE PRIOR TO THE RECEIPT OF A WRIT OF GARNISHMENT - EVEN IF THE SERVICE OF THAT WRIT OCCURS PRIOR TO THE PRESENTMENT OF THAT CHECK FOR PAYMENT TO THE ATTORNEY'S BANK.

We submit the Second District erred in finding an attorney owes a duty to a third party, when served with writ of garnishment, to issue a stop payment on a trust account check delivered to a client. Such a duty does not comport with the special and essential requirements of the attorney/client relationship, this Court's

rules regulating trust accounts and the legal profession, nor is it legislatively mandated by Florida garnishment law. In fact, the decision of the Second District (which is one of first impression in this state) does not comport with longstanding precedent on the issue in the majority of other jurisdictions throughout the United States. Respectfully, this Court should decline to follow the determinations made in the opinion below.

Pursuant to the Second District's opinion, every time an attorney has a client's funds in his or her trust account and receives a writ for garnishment of that client's funds, that attorney must immediately stop payment on all trust account checks written on these funds -- even if the trust checks were delivered to that client and/or third parties, before the writ was received. This requirement will negatively impact the attorney/client relationship, the practice of law, and the management of a law office, as well as impinge the dignity of the legal profession, as will be fully described herein.

Petitioners, the law firm of Arnold Matheny and Eagan, P.A. ("AME") respectfully request this Court reverse the decision of the second DCA.

A. The Certified Question Presented In This Appeal Is One Of Great Public Importance

As a result of the Second District's ruling in this case, it may no longer be reasonable or prudent for an attorney to rely on another attorney's trust account check until he or she has confirmed with the bank that the trust account check is

"collected funds." Even though this Court's Rules Regulating The Florida Bar control attorney's trust accounts and checks issued thereon, the Second District's opinion did not cite to any of these Rules to support its decision. The Second District's decision, which created the obligation, will seriously impede the use of attorney trust account checks as the instrument for distributing closing or settlement funds. The decision conflicts with this Court's Rules which deem trust account checks to be one of the exceptional instruments upon which an attorney may immediately disburse funds to a client prior to final settlement of funds; and, conflicts with the attorney's mandatory duty to promptly distribute to clients, for example. See R. Reg. Fla. Bar 5-1; In re Amendment to Integration Rule. 467 So. 2d 704 (Fla. 1985).

Prior to this ruling, an attorney who delivered a trust check implicitly, if not expressly, represented that the funds were available when the check was delivered. Now, an attorney may have exposure to the parties that received and accepted the check from, at least, an ethical perspective. The attorney that received and accepted another attorney's trust account check may be liable to his or her client (and others) for not advising of the risk that a "stop payment" order may prevent payment on the trust check. The attorney that deposits another attorney's trust account check in his or her trust account and draws trust account checks on these funds will have exposure to all other clients that have funds in the trust account.

Additionally, the attorney will have exposure to all other persons who have received delivery of the trust check or payment in reliance on its status as collected funds, if a subsequent stop payment order prevents collection on the first attorney's trust account check as a result of service of a writ of garnishment after the check is delivered.

B. Attorney Trust Account Checks Delivered To Client Should Not Be Subject To Garnishment Because Of The Unique And Special Obligations Of The Attorney/Client Relationship.

Allowing garnishment of delivered attorney trust account checks, through mandated stop payment orders, appears to conflict with the intent of this Court's mandated Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The Rules require a lawyer to "hold in trust . . . funds and property of clients . . . that are in a lawyer's possession in connection with a representation." R. Regulating Fla. Bar 5-1.1(a)(1). Furthermore, money that is "entrusted to an attorney for a specific purpose . . . is held in trust and must be applied only to that purpose " R. Regulating Fla. Bar. 5-1.1(b). In essence the attorney does not "own" the trust account funds – the Specifically, under the Rules, although an attorney temporarily client does. "possesses" the client's funds, a client clearly retains "control" over his or her trust funds at all times. The clients' right to control, and ultimately possess funds owed to them, imposes a mandatory duty upon lawyers to promptly distribute to the client any portion of money received from a third party that is not subject to dispute over counsel's fees. R. Regulating Fla. Bar R. 5-1.1; *In re Amendment to the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar*, 875 So. 2d 488, 534-35 (Fla. 2004). Moreover, upon prompt distribution to the client,

[a]n attorney <u>must</u> assume that the recipients of checks drawn upon his trust account will present such checks for payment <u>immediately</u> at the drawee bank.

In re Amendment to the Integration Rule, 467 So. 2d at 704. (emphasis added).

To comply, an attorney must immediately debit the client's account for the amount of the check delivered to the payee and deem the money in the account paid to the payee no longer subject the attorney's control. Therefore, once the check is delivered, the subsequent events with respect to the check (such as whether the check has been in fact presented or perhaps endorsed by the payee to a third party) are not within the control of the attorney, absent a requirement imposed by law to exercise some control over the disposition of the check before actual payment.

Further, lawyers are permitted to accept another attorney's trust account checks, along with other highly reliable instruments as noted in the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, <u>before</u> the funds are finally settled and credited to the lawyer's trust account if, "the lawyer has a reasonable and prudent belief that the deposit will clear and constitute collected funds in the lawyer's trust account within a reasonable period of time". *Id.* at 704-05; R. Regulating Fla. Bar 5-1.1(i).

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