IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ARNOLD, MATHENY & EAGAN. P.A.,

Petitioner

Case No.: SC07-1136

v.

FIRST AMERICAN HOLDINGS, INC., ET AL.,

Respondents.

· /

ON A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

LOWER TRIBUNAL CASE NO. 2D06-0317

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS, FIRST AMERICAN HOLDINGS, INC. AND THE FIRST AMERICAN INVESTMENT BANKING CORPORATION

GEOFFREY TODD HODGES G. T. HODGES, P.A. FBN 379964 905 SHADED WATER WAY LUTZ, FLORIDA 33549 ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENTS

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida law permits a judgment creditor to garnish any intangible property of the judgment debtor that is in the "possession or control" of a third person. First American served the Second Writ on AME at a time when AME held \$23,263.76 of Preclude's money in AME's trust account. Service of the Second Writ was sufficient to garnish those funds because the funds were in AME's possession and control, under applicable Florida law.

In response to the Second Writ, AME was required to inform the trial court and First American that it held Preclude's money. AME was required to stop payment on the trust account check that AME had delivered to Preclude. AME did neither of those things. Instead, AME simply denied possession of any funds belonging to Preclude.

AME now seeks to avoid its statutory liability for failing to comply with the garnishment statute by asserting that it, as a law firm, should not be required to strictly comply with the garnishment statute with regard to funds held in its escrow account. AME maintains that its status as Precludes's counsel somehow exempts it from its statutory obligations. AME is wrong. All garnishees are held to the same standards in complying with the Florida garnishment statute. There is nothing in the statutes, case law, or Bar Rules that enables AME to avoid these obligations. Further, the cases from other states that AME relies on to support its arguments do

not comport with Florida law.

As correctly pointed out by the Second District, Florida law and policy required AME to stop payment on the check it delivered to Preclude. By failing to do so, AME undertook primary liability to First American. The decision of the Second District should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Because the question presented is a question of law, this Court's standard of review is *de novo*. *Panama City Beach Community Redevelopment Agency v*. *State*, 831 So. 2d 662 (Fla. 2002).

ARGUMENT

I. ATTORNEYS HOLDING CLIENT FUNDS IN ESCROW ARE NOT EXEMPT FROM GARNISHMENT.

A. The Garnishment Statute Requires Any Person Served with a Garnishment Writ to Comply with the Writ.

Chapter 77, *Fla. Stat.*, provides for post-judgment garnishment as a remedy available to a judgment creditor to collect its judgment. Writs of garnishment are issued by the Court, and are intended to subject to judgment collection any debt due from a third person to the judgment debtor, or any property of the judgment debtor in the "possession or control" of a third person. *See*, §77.01, *Fla. Stat.* (2005). Service of a garnishment writ "begins the garnishment process which consists of notifying a third party to retain something he has belonging to the defendant, to make disclosure to the court concerning it, and to dispose of it as the court shall direct." *Farm Credit of North Florida, ACA v. Double H Dairy, Inc.*, 742 So. 2d 436 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), *citing In re Masvidal*, 10 F.3d 761 (11th Cir. 1993) and *Thompson v. Commercial Union Insurance Co.*, 267 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972), *cert. den*, 271 So. 2d 461 (Fla. 1972).

When a writ of garnishment is served, the garnishee is required to answer it. In its answer, the garnishee must state whether it is indebted to the judgment debtor or possesses any tangible or intangible property of the judgment debtor, and if so, in what sum. §77.04, *Fla. Stat.* (2005). The garnishee must "report and retain, subject to the provisions of s. 77.19 and subject to disposition as provided in this chapter, any deposit, account, or tangible or intangible property in its possession or control at the time of service of the writ." §77.06, *Fla. Stat.* (2005). The garnishee that obeys the garnishment writ is provided statutory immunity from all claims made by the judgment debtor or any other person. §77.06(3), *Fla. Stat.* (2005). The garnishee that does not obey the writ is made personally liable for the property or debt that he possessed, but failed to retain. §77.06(1), *Fla. Stat.* (2005).

The policy behind Chapter 77 is to protect the right of judgment creditors to obtain satisfaction of their judgments. It does this by rewarding the compliant garnishee with immunity from all claims arising from his compliance, and by severely penalizing the noncompliant garnishee by making him primarily liable to the judgment creditor. By making a garnishee directly liable to the judgment holder for a failure to comply with a garnishment writ, while absolving the garnishee from liability to the judgment debtor or any other person for good faith compliance with a writ (even if the garnishee's actions are erroneous), the Legislature established a strong policy favoring garnishors. As stated in *Dixie National Bank v. Chase*, 485 So. 2d 1353, 1356 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986):

... this statutory scheme contemplates full disclosure in the garnishee's answer of all debts owed by the garnishee to the defendant debtor and a simultaneous garnishment of said funds so as to fully protect the garnishor creditor in collecting on a debt due him by the defendant debtor. The garnishee is also protected against possible liability for its actions in serving an answer and garnishing funds so long as it acts in good faith. Plainly, this scheme contemplates full disclosure in the garnishee's answer of all debts owed by garnishee to the defendant debtor and an immediate garnishment on all such indebted funds in the possession of the garnishee. The statutory scheme cannot tolerate incomplete answers wherein only some of the debts owed are disclosed and garnished. If such answers were permissible, as the garnishee Dixie Bank contends, there would be little incentive to file complete answers; moreover, undisclosed funds would plainly remain ungarnished and could be spirited away by the defendant debtor--all to the detriment of the garnishor creditor. . . . we conclude that the term "answer" in the above statute means a *complete* answer revealing all debts owed by the garnishee to the defendant debtor.

B. Client Funds Held in an Attorney's Trust Account are Subject to Garnishment by Creditors of the Client.

The proposition that client funds in the trust account or escrow account of a Florida attorney are subject to garnishment is beyond dispute. *Wilkerson v. Olcott*, 212 So. 2d 119 (Fla. 4th DCA 1968); *Robert C. Malt & Co. v. Colvin*, 419 So. 2d 745 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); *Garel & Jacobs v. Wick*, 683 So. 2d 184 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996); *Cf. Boroff v. Bic Corporation*, 718 So. 2d 348 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) (garnishment of funds in escrow account may be defeated by prior perfected attorney's retaining lien; no dispute that funds could be garnished); *accord Miles v. Katz*, 405 So. 2d 750 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) (garnishment of escrow account may be defeated by prior perfected attorney's charging lien; no dispute that funds could be garnished).

Although client funds in an attorney's trust account belong to the client, *R*. *Regulating Fla. Bar* 5-1.1, the attorney is clearly in "possession or control" of such

funds within the meaning of the garnishment statute. *Carlton, Fields, Ward, Emmanuel Smith & Cutler, P.A. v. Boyer*, 196 B.R. 801 (N.D. Ind. 1996), *aff'd* 100 F.3d 53 (7th Cir. 1996), *citing Wilkerson, supra.*; *see also, In re Camelot Casino Cruises*, 2005 WL 2203160 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. 2005). The attorney who distributes escrow funds in violation of a garnishment order will be held personally liable for the violative distribution. *Robert C. Malt & Co. v. Colvin, supra.*

AME strenuously argues that attorneys should be exempt from the requirements of the garnishment statute, due to the "special nature" of the attorneyclient relationship. Nothing in the statutory scheme, however, suggests that attorneys (or any other class of professionals or persons) are immune from the obligations imposed by the garnishment statute. The statute contemplates that even true fiduciaries (i.e., trustees under formal trust declarations) are subject to garnishment for the judgment debts of their *cestuis que trust*. §77.06(4), *Fla. Stat.* (2005). If the Legislature wished to exempt attorneys from garnishment process, it could have done so. It did not. Attorneys are simply not exempt from compliance.

According to this Court, a lawyer has a duty to protect lawful third party claims to client funds held in trust against interference by his client. In *Amendment to the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar*, 875 So. 2d 448, 534 (Fla. 2004), the Court stated:

Third parties, such as a client's creditors, may have just claims against funds or other property in a lawyer's custody. A lawyer may have a duty under applicable law to protect such third party claims against wrongful interference by the client and, accordingly, may refuse to surrender the property to the client. However, a lawyer should not unilaterally assume to arbitrate a dispute between the client and the third party, and, where appropriate, the lawyer should consider the possibility of depositing the property or funds in dispute into the registry of the applicable court so that the matter may be adjudicated. (emphasis added.)

Although the foregoing amendment to the Rules was not yet promulgated at the time AME was served with the Second Writ, by the adoption of that amendment, the Court made very clear that attorneys are **not** entitled to simply ignore the rights of third parties to client funds held in escrow accounts, and **must**, in proper circumstances, refuse to surrender the funds to the client. First American submits that service of a writ of garnishment is just such a circumstance. A writ of garnishment is a court order directing the garnishee to report to the court all funds in its "possession or control," and to retain the funds pending further order of the court. The writ is issued pursuant to "applicable law," i.e., the garnishment statute. According to the foregoing amendment, an attorney served with a writ of garnishment has a duty to protect the garnishor's claim to the escrowed funds. *Id*.

C. The Drawing and Delivery of a Check Does Not Transfer Possession and Control of the Funds Represented by the Check.

"Possession and control" of funds in a checking account does not end when a check is written and delivered. *Fulton v. Gesterding*, 47 Fla. 150, 36 So. 56 (1904); *Hudgins v. Florida Federal Savings and Loan Association*, 399 So. 2d 990 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); §673.4081, Fla. Stat. ("A check or other draft does not of itself operate as an assignment of funds in the hands of the drawee which are available for its payment, and the drawee is not liable on the instrument until the drawee accepts it."). This is because Florida law permits a drawer of a check to issue a valid stop-payment order to its drawee bank at any time before final payment of the check by the bank. *See*, §674.403, *Fla. Stat.* The power to stop payment is precisely the type of "possession or control" that renders a garnishee liable for funds of a judgment debtor held in the garnishee's checking account, even if the garnishee has written uncleared checks against the funds. *Gelco Corporation v. United National Bank*, 569 So. 2d 502 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); *Sun Bank/North Florida, N.A. v. Bisbee-Baldwin Insurance Co.*, 559 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990).

D. If There are Outstanding Checks at the Time of Service of a Writ of Garnishment, the Garnishee Must Stop Payment.

The service of a writ of garnishment establishes the garnishor's right to all funds in a checking account at the moment of service. If there are checks outstanding, the garnishee must stop payment or otherwise must prevent payment if it is possible to do so. *Gelco Corporation v. United National Bank*, 569 So. 2d 502 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); *Michael Acri Boxing Promotions, Inc. v. Miles*, 758 So. 2d 704 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) (Stone, J., concurring specially); *Kipnis v. Taub*, 286 So. 2d 271 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973); *Sun Bank/North Florida, N.A. v. Bisbee-Baldwin*

Insurance Co., 559 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); *Fulton v. Gesterding*, 47 Fla. 150, 36 So. 56 (1904) (same as to drafts).

The only exception to the requirement that payment be stopped is that issuers of cashier's, certified, and official checks are not required to stop payment when served with a writ of garnishment. See, e.g., WNJU-TV, Inc. v. Barnett Bank of Broward County, N.A., 739 So. 2d 1213 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999). These checks are excepted from the stop payment requirement because of their unique nature in the banking system. All checks, other than certified checks, cashier's checks, and official checks, are governed by Article IV of the Uniform Commercial Code. Certified checks, cashier's checks, and official checks, however, are governed by both Articles III and IV. The reasons for this difference are historically complex. Essentially, however, when issuing a cashier's, certified, or official check, a bank is agreeing to substitute its own primary liability on the instrument (i.e., its own promise to pay the instrument on presentment) for its customer's. See §673.4111, Fla. Stat. (2005); Warren Finance, Inc. v. Barnett Bank of Jacksonville, N.A., 552 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 1989). Because the bank is issuing a check drawn on itself, it is issuing an obligation that it must pay in all events. The issuing bank immediately collects the from its customer the funds needed to pay the check, rather than waiting until presentment of the check for payment, because such a check is deemed paid upon delivery, rather than on presentment or at final settlement. See

§674.2131, Fla. Stat. (2005).

In contrast, when a customer draws any other type of check on a bank, including an attorney's trust account check, the customer is simply issuing an order to the bank to pay the check when it is presented. The drawer of the check (the customer) remains primarily liable for the obligation that the check represents, until the check is finally paid. The check is not finally paid until the drawee bank decides to pay the check and debits the customer's account. *See* §§674.2131 and .303, *Fla. Stat.* (2005). Before final settlement, the customer can issue a stop payment instruction on the check (i.e., revoke its payment order), and the drawee bank must follow that instruction. *See* §674.403, *Fla. Stat.* (2005); *Warren Finance, Inc., supra.*

AME acknowledges that bank garnishees are obligated to stop payment on outstanding checks that represent funds belonging to the judgment debtor, but argues that Florida law imposes lesser duties on non-bank garnishees. AME, of course, can cite no Florida cases in support of this proposition (there are none), but instead, cites cases from other jurisdictions. In fact, the only Florida case cited by AME, *Michael Acri Boxing Promotions, Inc. v. Miles*, 758 So. 2d 704 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) stands squarely for the proposition that non-bank garnishees are **not** to be treated differently than bank garnishees, and are required to stop payment on outstanding checks. Judge Stone, in his special concurring opinion in the *Acri*

decision, notes his own dislike of this duty, but acknowledges that it is a duty imposed by Florida law.

The leading case from outside Florida cited by AME for the proposition that non-bank garnishees do not have a duty to stop payment on outstanding checks in the face of a garnishment writ is *Central Security & Alarm Co. v. Mehler*, 125 N.M. 438, 963 P.2d 515 (N.M. Ct. App. 1998). In that case, the New Mexico appellate court ruled that a non-bank garnishee could not be held liable for failing to stop payment on an outstanding check because the garnishee ran a risk of double liability for stopping payment. The New Mexico court specifically addressed the Gelco case, supra., but distinguished Gelco on the basis that a bank was the garnishee. The New Mexico court decided that non-bank garnishees should not be subject to the duty to stop payment on outstanding checks in response to a garnishment writ because they would run a risk of double liability for doing so. Schwerdt, Grace & Niemackl v. Speedway Festivals, Inc., 7 Kan. App. 2d 40, 637 P.2d 477 (Kan. Ct. App. 1981) and Frickelton v. Fulton, 626 S.W. 2d 402 (Mo. Ct. App. 1981), cited by AME, also reach that result, on the same ground.

That rationale has no place in Florida's jurisprudence for the simple reason that Florida provides complete statutory immunity for the garnishee who complies with a garnishment writ. According to §77.06(3), Fla. Stat.,

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